S227473

No. _____

S	UPREME COURT
CRO	FILED
(8.25(b))	JUN 3 0 2015

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

BANNING RANCH CONSERVANCY,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

CITY OF NEWPORT BEACH et al.,

Defendants and Appellants;

NEWPORT BANNING RANCH LLC et al.,

Real Parties in Interest and Appellants.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Of a Published Decision of the Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. G049691

Reversing a Judgment of the Superior Court of Orange County
Case No. 30-2012-00593557
The Honorable Nancy Wieben Stock and Robert Becking

JOHN G. McCLENDON (SBN 145077)

John@CEQA.com

DOUGLAS M. JOHNSON (SBN 297582)

Douglas@CEQA.com

QUESTIONS FOR REVIEW

- 1. California's Coastal Act accords extraordinary protection to environmentally sensitive habitat areas ("ESHA") within the 1.5 million-acre Coastal Zone. Is an ESHA determination a *legal* determination that a local government cannot make under the Coastal Act if it lacks a local coastal plan?
- 2. May a local government reject an offer from the California Coastal Commission to assist in identifying ESHA that might be impacted by a proposed project within the Coastal Zone?
- 3. May a city or county incorporate a specific policy in its general plan to fully mitigate the environmental impacts of a future project and later refuse to implement that policy in a way that effectuates it purpose?
- 4. May a local government purge from its files empirical evidence showing a proposed project within the Coastal Zone will impact ESHA and not mention that evidence in the environmental impact report it prepares for the project?

INTRODUCTION

As former California Coastal Commission member Steve Blank noted, "With 39 million people in the state, there's no rational reason there aren't condos, hotels, houses, shopping centers and freeways, wall-to-wall for most of the length of our state's coast (instead of just in Southern California)."¹ There is, however, a political reason: the voters' approval of Proposition 20 in 1972 which resulted in the Legislature's enactment of the California Coastal Act of 1976 ("Coastal Act").

"The Coastal Act saved California from looking like the coast of New Jersey, giving us the most pristine and undeveloped coast in the country — with recreation and access for all.

To achieve this amazing accomplishment, the coastal zone has the strictest zoning and planning requirements in the country."²

At the heart of the Coastal Act is the restriction it places on development in "environmentally sensitive habitat areas," or "ESHA," by protecting these areas from any disruption.

Banning Ranch Conservancy v. City of Newport Beach (2015) 236 Cal.App.4th 1341 ("the Opinion," attached as Exhibit A), in which Petitioner

[&]quot;Farming for Developers: Coastal Commission Stories – Lesson 1" (June 10, 2014), http://steveblank.com/category/california-coastal-commission/.

² *Ibid*.

seeks review, now severely curtails that protection. Indeed, the Opinion tiers off of an earlier published opinion from Division Three of the Fourth District, Banning Ranch Conservancy v. City of Newport Beach (2012) 211 Cal.App.4th 1209, 1233-1234 ("BRC I"), which held a local agency's ESHA analysis of a proposed project is sufficient as long as it simply acknowledges areas having the potential to be considered ESHA by the California Coastal Commission ("Coastal Commission").

The Opinion here significantly extends *BRC I* by holding local governments do not have to make even this acknowledgment because an ESHA determination is a *legal* conclusion that only the Coastal Commission is empowered to make under the Coastal Act. This one-two punch into the gut of the Coastal Act's ESHA protections is a matter of critical statewide importance justifying review by this Court.

The Opinion does not, however, simply stop at paving the pathway for local agencies to sidestep the Coastal Act's ESHA protections. By insisting that only the Coastal Commission (and not the City of Newport Beach) could make an ESHA designation despite documentation that the project site contained numerous potential ESHAs, the Opinion undoes, without citation, the Second District's holding in *Douda v. California Coastal Com.* (2008) 159 Cal.App.4th 1181 ("*Douda*"), which held ESHA designations could be made by either the local agency or the Coastal Commission.

The Opinion also dismisses the Third District's decision in *California Native Plant Society v. City of Rancho Cordova* (2009) 172 Cal.App.4th 603 ("*Native Plant*"), by expressly rejecting its reasoning as "incompatible" with the Fourth District's deferential review accorded to a local agency's interpretation of a city's general plan. (Opinion, at p. 26.) In so doing, the Opinion ignores this Court's mandate that courts give effect to the plain text of a city's general plan.³ *Native Plant* follows that mandate and, in comparison, is better reasoned. Thus, the Opinion's holding results in a disagreement between the Third and Fourth District, and this Court should provide clarification.

Finally, the Opinion repudiates several key principles of the California Environmental Quality Act "("CEQA").⁴ CEQA requires collaboration between a lead agency and state agencies.⁵ The Opinion would allow lead agencies to go it alone. Also, CEQA contains stringent procedural prerequisites. The Opinion would relax those strictures and allow environmental impact reports ("EIRs") to follow less than complete methodologies. Furthermore, CEQA mandates open and transparent informational disclosures. The Opinion enables certain substantive facts about

Lesher Communications, Inc. v. City of Walnut Creek (1990) 52 Cal.3d 531, 543 ("Lesher").

Public Resources Code section 21000, et seq.

⁵ Cal Code Regs., tit. 14 § 15050.

a project to be withdrawn from public scrutiny if other comparable information is provided, however incomplete or equivocal. Moreover, CEQA requires mitigation measures to be fully enforceable by (among other things) incorporating those measures into a plan.⁶ The Opinion permits a city to classify its incorporated mitigation measure a "helpful reminder" if the city chooses to refuse to implement that measure. (Opinion, at p. 22.) No reported decision has ever held a CEQA mitigation measure may later be disregarded as a vague, optional suggestion.

Pursuant to California Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1), Supreme Court review is needed to (1) resolve the decisional conflict between the Opinion and the Second District Court of Appeal's opinion in *Douda*; (2) settle the important issue of law as to whether the determination of ESHA is a legal determination local governments are not empowered to make; (3) resolve the decisional conflict between the Opinion and the Third District Court of Appeal's opinion in *Native Plant*; and (4) settle important issues of law fundamental to CEQA.⁷

Public Resources Code section 21081.6, subdivision (b).

It may also be appropriate for this Court to grant review pursuant to California Rules of Court, rule 8.512, subdivision (d), and defer briefing pending decision on a pending case also addressing general plan interpretation and authored by Justice Ikola. (*Orange Citizens for Parks & Recreation v. Superior Court* (2013) 217 Cal.App.4th 1005, review granted Oct. 30, 2013, S212800.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Coastal Act and "ESHA"

In 1972, California voters approved the Coastal Zone Conservation Act (Proposition 20), creating temporary commissions to develop a statewide plan for coastal protection. This plan was submitted to the Legislature in 1975, and led to the passage of the California Coastal Act in 1976, which established a State agency—the California Coastal Commission—charged with protecting and enhancing the resources of the Coastal Zone mapped by the Legislature. (*Id.*; Pub. Res. Code § 30000, *et seq.*) The Coastal Act contains policies guiding development and conservation along the state's 1,100-mile coastline, and its intent is to protect, maintain, and where feasible, enhance and restore the overall quality of the 1.5 million-acre Coastal Zone environment and its natural and artificial resources. (*Id.*)

The Coastal Act must "be liberally construed to accomplish its purposes and objectives." (Pub. Resources Code § 30009; *Bolsa Chica Land Trust v. Superior Court* (1999) 71 Cal.App.4th 493, 506 ("*Bolsa Chica*") ["under both the Coastal Act and CEQA: 'The courts are enjoined to construe the statute liberally in light of its beneficent purposes. [Citation.] The highest priority must be given to environmental consideration in interpreting the statute [citation].""].) One of the Coastal Act's key purposes is to provide "heightened protection" to what are called environmentally sensitive habitat areas, or

ESHA. (*Id.*) Section 30107.5 of the Coastal Act defines ESHA as "any area in which plant or animal life or their habitats are either rare or especially valuable because of their special nature or role in an ecosystem and which could be easily disturbed or degraded by human activities and developments." The consequences of land having ESHA on it are delineated in section 30240 of the Coastal Act:

- "(a) Environmentally sensitive habitat areas shall be protected against any significant disruption of habitat values, and only uses dependent on those resources shall be allowed within those areas.
- (b) Development in areas adjacent to environmentally sensitive habitat areas and parks and recreation areas shall be sited and designed to prevent impacts which would significantly degrade those areas, and shall be compatible with continuance of those habitat and recreation areas."

"Thus development in ESHA areas themselves is limited to uses dependent on those resources, and development in adjacent areas must carefully safeguard their preservation." (*Bolsa Chica*, *supra*, at p. 507.)

B. Banning Ranch

Encompassing over 400 acres within the Coastal Zone, Banning Ranch is the largest parcel of unprotected coastal open space remaining in Orange

County. (AR 10:15855.) Despite disturbance from oil production operations, it contains high-quality riparian and wetlands habitat with a broad variety of vegetation types providing habitat for state and federally listed endangered and threatened species. (*Id.*; AR 10:23010; AR 4:3180; 9:14041 [map].) A 2002 City-commissioned biological study delineated the entirety of Banning Ranch as ESHA. (AR 10:23695.) In 2003, the United States Fish and Wildlife Service designated the entirety of Banning Ranch as "critical habitat" for the federally threatened California gnatcatcher, and in 2007 designated fifteen acres of "vernal pool complexes" as "critical habitat" for the federally endangered San Diego fairy shrimp. (*Id.*; AR 3:1256, 1825; 9:14342, 14352; 9:15864, 15859, 15863, 10:46338.)

C. The City's CLUP and ESHA

To assure conformity with the Coastal Act, local governments lying in whole or in part within the Coastal Zone must prepare and submit a local coastal plan ("LCP") to the Coastal Commission consisting of a coastal land use plan ("CLUP") plus zoning and other implementing actions. (Pub. Resources Code §§ 30108.5, 30108.6; *Yost v. Thomas* (1984) 36 Cal.3d 561, 566.) The City's CLUP contains the following policy regarding ESHA:

"Policies 4.1.1-1. Define any area in which plant or animal life or their habitats are either rare or especially valuable because of their special nature or role in an ecosystem and which could be easily disturbed or degraded by human activities and developments as an environmentally sensitive habitat area (ESHA). Using a site-specific survey and analysis by a qualified biologist, evaluate the following attributes when determining whether a habitat area meets the definition of an ESHA:

- A. The presence of natural communities that have been identified as rare by the California Department of Fish and Game.
- B. The recorded or potential presence of plant or animal species designated as rare, threatened, or endangered under State or Federal law.
- C. The presence or potential presence of plant or animal species that are not listed under State or Federal law, but for which there is other compelling evidence of rarity, such as designation as a 1B or 2 species by the California Native Plant Society...."

(AR 3:1242-1243.) The City's CLUP further entitles ESHA to protections such as:

"4.1.1-4. Protect ESHAs against any significant disruption of habitat values.

- 4.1.1-6. Require development in areas adjacent to environmentally sensitive habitat areas to be sited and designed to prevent impacts that would significantly degrade those areas, and to be compatible with the continuance of those habitat areas.
 4.1.1-7. Limit uses within ESHAs to only those uses that are dependent on such resources.
- 4.1.1-9. Where feasible, confine development adjacent to ESHAs to low impact land uses, such as open space and passive recreation."
- (*Id.*) Most important, when habitats meeting the definition of ESHA occur, the City's CLUP states "the presumption is that they are ESHA and the burden of proof is on the property owner or project proponent to demonstrate that that presumption is rebutted by site-specific evidence." (AR 3:913.)

"[D]ue to unresolved issues relating to land use public access, and the protection of coastal resources," the CLUP "whiteholed" Banning Ranch by designating it as a Deferred Certification Area "in order to avoid delay in certifying the balance of the LCP." (AR 3:925; 4:3260-3261.)

D. General Plan Update Policies Specific to Banning Ranch

While seeking an LCP, the City also initiated its first comprehensive General Plan update in over thirty years. (AR 10:26214-26216.) What with Banning Ranch being "high-quality wildlife habitat," the General Plan Update

prioritized its acquisition as an open space amenity for the community and region and called for consolidating oil operations, restoring wetlands, providing nature education and interpretative facilities, and a park to serve residents. (AR 10:26244; 26302-26305.)

If acquisition for open space proved unsuccessful, the General Plan Update allowed Banning Ranch to be developed as a residential village with a majority of the site preserved as open space. (AR 10:26305.) However, either scenario required the restoration and enhancement of "wetlands and wildlife habitats in accordance with the requirements of state and federal agencies." (AR 10:26309-26310.) And to guarantee environmental impacts caused under either scenario would be less than significant, the General Plan Update incorporated as policies specific to Banning Ranch several mitigation measures, including the following:

"LU 6.5.6 Coordination with State and Federal Agencies Work with appropriate state and federal agencies to identify wetlands and habitats to be preserved and/or restored and those on which development will be permitted."

(AR 10:23164, 23167, 10:22892, 26013; bold in original.) Because those policies stipulated "that any development would have to be located and designed to protect views, the bluffs, natural drainage, and important habitat," the environmental impact report prepared for the General Plan Update

concluded the City's compliance with them ensured that "[i]mpacts associated with land use compatibility would be less than significant." (*Id.*; AR 10:23177.)

The City adopted the General Plan Update on July 25, 2006, and the voters approved it on November 25, 2006. (AR 4:3100.)

E. Banning Ranch's Biologist Finds ESHA on the Property

After the City concluded the General Plan Update's preferred Banning Ranch scenario was infeasible, in August 2008 the owners of Banning Ranch ("RPI") submitted a proposal to develop the property at the maximum density allowed under the alternative scenario. (Opinion, at p. 10.) In compliance with the CEQA mitigation measures built into the General Plan Update, RPI concurrently submitted its biologist's Biological Technical Report, which identified and mapped large areas of potential ESHA present on Banning Ranch by utilizing the City's CLUP criteria for identifying ESHA. (Opinion, at p. 11; AR 9:13710; 3 AA 744, 749; AR 10:46022.) To avoid disturbing this ESHA, RPI's development plan did not include the extension of an arterial four-lane road across it. (3 AA 755-756; AR 10:36559.)

Outside of public purview, however, the City's elected officials insisted on the road extension being part of RPI's development. (AR 9:13723, 13790-13791.) Despite RPI's biologist cautioning that the road extension "would cross through a large portion of project open space containing areas of ESHA,"

"impact significant areas of ESHA scrub and wetlands," and "result in temporary impacts to ESHA scrub and jurisdictional drainages, and significant permanent impacts to ESHA scrub and wetlands," RPI revised its development plan to include the road extension. (AR 4:3177; AR 9:13801-13803, 13805, 15760.)

On April 14, 2011, the Coastal Commission, the City, and RPI agreed to a consent restoration agreement for Banning Ranch in which they acknowledged the presence of ESHA on Banning Ranch that had been illegally cleared, and the violators agreed to restore that ESHA plus additional acreage and pay a \$300,000 fine. (AR 9:14161-14162.) The following month the City's planning manager wrote RPI asking, "Can you give me some idea on what revisions to the project, if any, with regards to Coastal Commission-designated ESHA areas?" (AR 9:14170.) RPI replied the next day saying, "No revisions. We will have to fight for our project." (*Id.*)

F. The City Refuses to Address ESHA in the EIR

In September, 2011, the City circulated for public review a 1,400-page draft environmental impact report with 5,560 pages of appendices ("DEIR") for the Project. (AR 8:13625-13626, Opinion, at 12.) The DEIR noted Banning Ranch's status as a Deferred Certification Area excluded it from the City's CLUP yet stated the Coastal Commission would evaluate the Project's potential impacts to ESHA by using the Coastal Act *and* guidance from the

City's CLUP. (AR 5:3261.) However, despite not working with the Coastal Commission to identify any ESHA on Banning Ranch or applying either the Coastal Act's or the CLUP's definition of ESHA to the Project, the DEIR concluded the Project was "considered consistent" with the Coastal Act. (AR 4:3323, 3334-3342.)

Numerous public and private entities and individuals submitted comments on the DEIR, with the main complaint being the DEIR's failure to address the presence of ESHA on the Project site. (AR 3:858-862, 1152, 1248-1249, 1429, 1434-1435, 1512-1517, 1823-1824.) This failure to make any determination as to the existence of ESHA on the Project was baffling since it was not only contrary to CEQA policy, but an earlier City study had previously mapped probable ESHA on the Project site, and the Project included the 17/19 Extension through what RPI's own consultant admitted was ESHA. (AR 3:1248, 1516, 1824; 10:15859 [map].)

G. The City Refuses to Work With the Coastal Commission

Coastal Commission staff was particularly critical of the Project and DEIR, noting in a letter the City's CLUP provided "strong guidance"... "aimed at the protection of coastal resources" and urged that "[t]he EIR should analyze the consistency of the proposed development with applicable policies in the certified [CLUP] and Chapter 3 policies of the Coastal Act and identify and address impacts accordingly." (AR 3:911-912; emphasis

in original.) While acknowledging the CLUP did not currently apply to the Project site, staff noted the CLUP nevertheless:

"contains numerous policies for coastal resource protection that should be referenced with regard to this site. As the most proximate and relevant discussion of habitat areas in and around the City, a discussion of the policies of the [CLUP] for the City of Newport Beach should be included within the EIR."

(AR 3:913; emphasis in original.) Staff then noted the City's CLUP's *presumption* of ESHA, and its placement of the burden of proof on landowners and project applicants to show otherwise, and reiterated the "significant amount of guidance available in both the Coastal Act and the [CLUP] for the City." (*Id.*)

Focusing on whether the Project site actually contained ESHA, staff noted that, while it had not yet performed a formal ESHA delineation for the site,

"the site is known to support significant numbers of sensitive species, and there are likely significant areas of ESHA on the site. ESHA determinations are based on site specific circumstances, which the Commission has not had the ability to review in full. However, generally, habitat which supports sensitive species would be considered ESHA."

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