S227473

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

BANNING RANCH CONSERVANCY,
Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

CITY OF NEWPORT BEACH, et al.,
Defendants and Appellants,

NEWPORT BANNING RANCH LLC, et al.,
Real Parties in Interest and Appellants.

SUPREME COURT
FILED

JUL 21 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

CRC
8.25(b)

**DEFENDANTS, REAL PARTIES IN INTEREST, AND
APPELLANTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal
Fourth Appellate District, Division Three
Case No. G049691

Reversing a Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California
For the County of Orange, The Honorable Robert Louis Becking,
Temporary Judge.
Case No. 30-2012-00593557

INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeal's well-reasoned Opinion ¹ does not conflict with established case law interpreting the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), the Planning and Zoning Law or the California Coastal Act. Nor does the Opinion raise any important legal questions. The Opinion is not "contrary" to any existing precedent.

Banning Ranch Conservancy (BRC) scoffs at the notion advanced by the Court of Appeal – that courts ought to defer to those decisionmakers in the interpretation of their own planning documents – noting that courts are called upon to make life-and-death decisions daily, and thus are capable of interpreting a local agency's planning document. (Petition for Review, p. 29, citing Opn., p. 28.)

The problem with this argument is not that the courts are incapable of such review, but that the searching review advocated by BRC would be improper. Case law uniformly recognizes that some decisions are properly committed not to the courts, but to local officials who are directly accountable to those who elected them. (See, e.g., *Save Our Peninsula Committee v. Monterey County Board of Supervisors* (2001) 87 Cal.App.4th 99, 142.) The Court of Appeal's decision in this case merely reflects a straightforward application of this settled principle.

BRC's other grounds for review are similarly misguided. BRC advances two theories based on the Coastal Act, even though BRC alleged

¹ Citation to the Opinion (Opn.) are to the Slip Opinion. The official published decision is available at 236 Cal.App.4th 1341.

no claims under the Coastal Act, and even though BRC pursued none of these arguments at trial or on appeal.

BRC also seeks review of the Court of Appeal's ruling on its CEQA claim. Here, too, review is unwarranted. The court's CEQA ruling is entirely consistent with, if not compelled by, a published decision in earlier litigation involving these same parties. (*Banning Ranch Conservancy v. City of Newport Beach* (2012) 211 Cal.App.4th 1209, 1233-1234 (*Banning Ranch Conservancy I*), petition for review denied March 27, 2013.)

II. OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

BRC fails to demonstrate that Supreme Court review is warranted under the rules of court. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b).) BRC devotes little attention to the application of these principles. BRC advances four issues that, in its view, warrant review. None is persuasive.

The first two issues arise under the Coastal Act and were not previously raised in either the trial court or the Court of Appeal.

The second two, arising under the Planning and Zoning Law and CEQA, were litigated, but do not warrant review. In the trial court, BRC originally prevailed on the Planning and Zoning Law claim. The trial court granted BRC's petition based on its conclusion that the Project is inconsistent with the City's General Plan, particularly Strategy "[LU] 6.5.6, in that the City failed to coordinate and work with the Coastal Commission in identifying which wetlands and habitats present in Banning Ranch would be preserved, restored or developed, prior to its approval of the Project." In

particular, the court held that the City had to “coordinate” with the Coastal Commission to identify “environmentally sensitive habitat areas” (ESHA) on the project site prior to the City’s approval of the project. In reaching this conclusion, the trial court cited *California Native Plant Society v. City of Rancho Cordova* (2009) 172 Cal.App.4th 603 (*Rancho Cordova*). (Opn., p. 17.) The trial court denied BRC’s CEQA claim, citing *Banning Ranch Conservancy I, supra*, 211 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1233-1234, for the proposition that the City did not need to predict in its environmental impact report (EIR) where the Coastal Commission would find ESHA on the site. (Opn., p. 17.)

The Court of Appeal affirmed on the CEQA issue, but reversed on the Planning and Zoning law claim, finding that the City’s interpretation of its own general plan was reasonable and not arbitrary and capricious. This determination was consistent with abundant case law.

As explained below, no ground for review exists here. There is neither a split of authority, nor an important question of law at issue. There is nothing new, novel, or important warranting this Court’s attention. The Petition should therefore be denied.

A. *Douda v. California Coastal Commission* is not in conflict with, or even in tension with, the Opinion.

BRC argues that the Opinion is purportedly in irreconcilable conflict with *Douda v. California Coastal Commission* (2008) 159 Cal.App.4th 1181 (*Douda*).

The Court need not consider this argument. As the Court of Appeal observed, “[w]e have not been pointed to any authority indicating that the City is required under the Coastal Act to identify ESHA in a project not covered by a coastal land use plan.” (Opn., p. 23, fn. 13.) That statement is accurate. BRC did not cite *Douda*, or any other case, for that proposition.

BRC’s appellate briefing spanned 133 pages, yet BRC cited *Douda* zero times. BRC thus seeks review based on a purported conflict with a case BRC has never before discussed on an issue it never raised.

This Court will not consider an issue that was not raised during the briefing on the merits or at the very least in a petition for rehearing. (Cal. Rules of Court, rules 8.500(c)(1), (c)(2).) Those policies apply with full force to this case.

Moreover, *Douda* is inapplicable. *Douda* is a Coastal Act case, not a CEQA case. The Court of Appeal specifically noted that there are no claims pending under the Coastal Act here. (Opn., p. 23, fn. 13 [“there is not a Coastal Act claim before this court”].) *Douda* does not even mention CEQA, nor does it discuss a local agency’s duty under CEQA to forecast future Coastal Act determinations when an agency is not and cannot act as a decisionmaker under the Coastal Act. Whether habitat constitutes “ESHA” is a determination made under the Coastal Act. (Pub. Resources Code, § 30240.) Simply put, nothing in *Douda* even suggests that a local agency has to make gratuitous, non-binding ESHA predictions in the context of CEQA – which is essentially the allegation here. In short, *Douda* is irrelevant.

B. The Opinion does not contravene section 30336 of the Coastal Act.

BRC also argues that the Opinion “contravenes” section 30336 of the Coastal Act and conflicts with *Douda*’s interpretation of this provision. There are four reasons why review of this issue is unwarranted.

First, BRC did not bring any alleged errors with respect to section 30336 to the Court of Appeals’ attention. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(c)(2).)

Second, as the Opinion notes, none of BRC’s claims arises under the Coastal Act. (Opn., p. 23, fn. 13.)

Third, *Douda* does not cite, much less discuss, section 30336, so its relevance to BRC’s argument is obscure.

Fourth, on its own terms, section 30336 stops far short of requiring the City to predict where the Coastal Commission would find ESHA on Banning Ranch. That section states:

The commission shall, to the maximum extent feasible, assist local governments in exercising the planning and regulatory powers and responsibilities provided for by this division where the local government elects to exercise those powers and responsibilities and requests assistance from the commission, and shall cooperate with and assist other public agencies in carrying out this division. Similarly, every public agency, including regional and state agencies and local governments, shall cooperate with the commission and shall, to the extent their resources permit, provide any advice, assistance, or information the commission may require to perform its duties and to more effectively exercise its authority.

(Pub. Resources Code, § 30336.) A general duty to “cooperate” cannot be construed as a legal obligation to predict permitting decisions that will be

made by the Coastal Commission some day in the future. (See Opn., p. 23, fn. 13 [rejecting the notion that section 30336 required the City to forecast “ESHA designations in its EIR”].)

C. The Opinion does not conflict with *Rancho Cordova*.

BRC argues that the Opinion is inconsistent with in *Rancho Cordova, supra*, 172 Cal.App.4th 603. BRC is wrong. The Opinion found that the City’s interpretation of, and adherence to, its general plan was not arbitrary and capricious. (Opn., p. 28.) The *Rancho Cordova* court applied the same standard of review, and reached the opposite conclusion based on a different policy and a different record. There is no split in authority.

The Opinion explained the policies at issue in *Rancho Cordova* were not substantially similar to the policies at issue in this case. In *Rancho Cordova*, the Court of Appeal considered Rancho Cordova General Plan Action NR.1.7.1, which stated:

[F]or those areas in which special-status species are found or likely to occur or where the presence of species can be reasonably inferred, the City *shall* require mitigation of impacts to those species that ensure that the project does not contribute to the decline of the affected species populations in the region to the extent that their decline would impact the viability of the regional population. Mitigation *shall* be designed by the City *in coordination with* the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) and the California Department of Fish and Game (CDFG), and shall emphasize a multi-species approach to the maximum extent feasible. This may include development or participation in a habitat conservation plan.

(*Rancho Cordova, supra*, 172 Cal.App.4th at p. 635, emphasis in original.)

The *Rancho Cordova* court held that this measure required more than mere

“consultation” with USFWS and CDFG, which is normally understood as notice and opportunity to submit comments. The word “coordination” implies something more – a measure of “cooperation.” The court left open how much more cooperation would be required to satisfy this policy, except to note that the policy did not require the city to “subordinate itself to state and federal agencies by implementing their comments and taking their direction.” (*Id.* at pp. 641-642.)

BRC argues that *Rancho Cordova* compels a similar conclusion here. As the Court of Appeal noted, however, the “strategy” at issue here is substantially different from the policy in *Rancho Cordova*. *Rancho Cordova*’s policy NR 1.7.1 required (1) that the city “coordinate” with specific agencies, (2) that the city coordinate on a specific task, and (3) that, by its very nature, the city had to complete the task – adoption of mitigation – prior to approving the project. (Opn., p. 26.)

The City’s Strategy LU 6.5.6 is much less specific:

[¶] Work with appropriate state and federal agencies to identify wetlands and habitats to be preserved and/or restored and those on which development will be permitted.

The strategy does not even mention the Coastal Commission. The strategy uses the term “work with” rather than “coordinate.” And the strategy provides no specific time frame for completing this obligation. (Opn., p. 26.) The Court of Appeal concluded that the City’s interpretation – that its work with the various agencies is an ongoing process that did not have to be fully satisfied before project approval – was not arbitrary and capricious: “Our review of the general plan and the record in this case leads us to

conclude that the City’s interpretation of the process contemplated by LU 6.5.6 and its ensuing consistency finding are reasonable.” (Opn., pp. 18-22.) The court concluded that the general commitment to “work with” agencies could not be read to impose more without inventing obligations “out of thin air.” (Opn., p. 28.)

The Opinion is entirely consistent with *Rancho Cordova*, and with the decisions of all the other appellate districts addressing the standard of review governing claims under the Planning and Zoning Law.² Review is unwarranted.

² See, e.g., *Sequoyah Hills Homeowners Assn. v. City of Oakland* (1993) 23 Cal.App.4th 704, 717 (First District: noting strong presumption in favor of agency’s interpretation; reviewing only for abuse of discretion); *Jamieson v. City Council of City of Carpinteria* (2012) 204 Cal.App.4th 755, 763 (Second District: noting great deference due to the local agency’s consistency determination; “the body which adopted the general plan policies in its legislative capacity has unique competence to interpret those policies when applying them in its adjudicatory capacity” and such a determination cannot be overturned except on showing abuse of discretion); *Families Unafraid to Uphold Rural etc. County v. Board of Supervisors* (1998) 62 Cal.App.4th 1332, 1338 (Third District: local governing body’s determination that a project is consistent with a general plan is subject to judicial review under the abuse of discretion standard); *Anderson First Coalition v. City of Anderson* (2005) 130 Cal.App.4th 1173, 1192 (Third District: an agency’s decision for consistency with its own general plan, is accorded great deference; if the agency’s decision is not arbitrary, capricious, unsupported, or procedurally unfair, it is upheld); *Endangered Habitats League, Inc. v. County of Orange* (2005) 131 Cal.App.4th 777, 782 (Fourth District: applying “arbitrary and capricious” standard of review to Planning and Zoning Law claim); *Woodward Park Homeowners Assn., Inc. v. City of Fresno* (2007) 150 Cal.App.4th 683, 706 (Fifth District: deferential standard governs city’s determination that the project was consistent with the general plan; such a determination can be overturned only on abuse of discretion); *Save Our Peninsula Committee v. Monterey County Board of Supervisors*, *supra*, 87 Cal.App.4th at pp. 141-142 (Sixth

(Continued)

D. The Opinion is consistent with settled law regarding CEQA.

BRC argues that the Opinion departs from established law on CEQA. BRC's petition, however, does not even cite the main decision relied on by both the trial court and the Court of Appeal: *Banning Ranch Conservancy I, supra*, 211 Cal.App.4th 1209. This omission is particularly startling because *Banning Ranch Conservancy I* involved the same parties, and because the trial court in this case sharply criticized BRC for ignoring the case in its trial briefs.

BRC argues that under CEQA the City was required to identify ESHA in the EIR, citing the general obligation that the EIR must use best efforts to disclose "all it reasonably can" in the EIR. (Petition for Review, p. 32.) The Opinion upheld the EIR's discussion of this issue, noting that the issue had already been resolved in *Banning Ranch Conservancy I*, which involved the same parties, an adjacent property, and indistinguishable contentions by BRC. (Opn., p. 30.) In that case, BRC argued there that the city had to identify ESHA in an EIR prepared for a park project on a parcel next door to Banning Ranch. The *Banning Ranch Conservancy I* court held that the city was not required to speculate about whether the Coastal Commission would find ESHA on site. The city merely had to identify potential inconsistencies with the Coastal Act, which it did.

(Continued)

District: noting unique competence of local agency to interpret its own general plan; reviewing for abuse of discretion in that light).

(*Banning Ranch Conservancy I, supra*, at pp. 1233-1234.) BRC sought review in that first case, which was denied.

In this case, the court concluded that the City complied with CEQA. The court noted the extensive and thorough environmental review prepared for the Project. (Opn., p. 12.) The City opted not to “speculate” about “potential ESHA,” but “CEQA does not require the City to prognosticate as to the likelihood of ESHA determinations” during the Coastal Commission’s review under the Coastal Act. (*Id.*, p. 31.) In reaching this conclusion, the court merely applied the settled rule established by *Banning Ranch Conservancy I. (Ibid.)*³

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

³ Underlying BRC’s CEQA argument is the contention that the City suppressed a report prepared by Glen Lukos in 2008. (Petition for Review, pp. 32-33.) The 2008 Lukos Report was made public, and in fact BRC submitted comments on the report. For reasons that are discussed at length in the Clerk’s Transcript, the report was initially not included in the Administrative Record. The Court of Appeal, however, indisputably included the 2008 Lukos Report in the Administrative Record, and considered the report in reaching its conclusions. (Opn., p. 11, fn. 10.) Thus, the record belies BRC’s arguments pertaining to the Lukos report.

Because BRC's petition ignores settled law, and points to no important question or lack of uniformity requiring Supreme Court review, the Court should deny BRC's petition. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500 (b).)

**III.
CONCLUSION**

This Court should deny review.